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MICKLEHAM PARISH CHURCH - A HISTORY PART 3 - THE MIDDLE AGES
So far in our history we have only been sure of one actual date, the year 1086 when the Domesday Book, completed and published exactly 900 years ago, stated that ‘there is a church in Mickleham’. All other dates have been conjectures based on circumstantial evidence, but now we reach a period when events connected with St Michael’s may be verified from contemporary documents and dated exactly.
Hanging on the walls at the west end of the church are two boards inscribed with a list of the incumbents who have served the parish and you will notice that it commences with the year 1247 followed by the name William.  So, this priest, duly instituted by the Bishop of Winchester, is the first rector of whom we have any record.  Of course there were many before him but of those we know nothing, nor do we know anything of William - not even his surname - but at least we know the year he was instituted thanks to Manning and Bray, those painstaking and erudite authors, who produced their famous History of Surrey in 1803.  In the portion describing the parish of Mickleham (Vol II) they include a list of incumbents and give the sources (diocesan and others) from which the dates of their institution may be verified.  The list (from which no doubt our boards were copied) contains three columns headed - Patron, Rector, and Date of Institution.
Before we look further at this record (which has been updated from 1803 to the present day) perhaps we might digress a little and consider certain terms which are still in use but whose roots are very much a part of history - of the Middle Ages and earlier.
Rector, Vicar, Tithe, Patron and Advowson.  What is the difference between a rector and a vicar?  Why are incumbents of MIckleham always called rector whilst those of the nearby parish of Dorking vicar?  The word rector comes from the Latin ‘to guide’ and was used to describe the priest in charge of a parish.  However, some parishes were looked after by monasteries or other religious bodies who possessed the rectorial rights, and who appointed a priest as incumbent, to act vicariously for them, known as a ‘vicar’.  In the case of Dorking, the parish was under the rule of the Reigate Priory.  A complication arose over the tithes, part of which maintained the incumbent - the rector received his share direct from the parish, but the vicar had to depend upon his from the monastery (or other body) which had ‘appropriated’ the tithes.  It became even more complicated after the Dissolution of the Monasteries in 1539 when their lands and wealth fell into the hands of laymen and the vicars had ‘lay rectors’ to deal with.  Today, however, that is all in the past and the two terms are synonymous, in fact their duties, obligations and rights have always been identical.
Tithes meant the giving of a tenth of the produce of the land by parishioners to maintain the church, pay for their priest and diocesan funds.  At first it was voluntary but in 900 AD it was enforced by law.  Like all taxes, no doubt there was always resentment, but this became very acute after the Reformation when non-conformist sects flourished, and their members were forced to pay for a church to which they did not owe allegiance.  Tithes were commuted to cash payments in 1836 and finally abolished in 1926.
Patronage has its roots in pre-Christian times when landowners were expected to provide and maintain pagan priests.  It must be understood that in Christian times patrons did not have the right to appoint incumbents - their right was to present a priest of their choice to the bishop for institution in the parish.  Nevertheless, it was an important power and was open to abuse especially as by law the right, called an advowson, was regarded as property which could be bought and sold.
But now to return to the list, the names of individual rectors in the Middle Ages can have little interest for us today because they cannot be related to any known piece of parish history; but with some of their patrons it is a different matter.  For example, there is the de’Micklem family who owned not only the advowson, but most of the parish from 1100 to around 1350, the last member of which I have commented upon in ‘The Manor of Wistomble’ (Page 17).  It was he who, showing a remarkable disregard for material things, gave away nearly all his lands, partly to his daughter but mostly to the Church, his manor of Westhumble becoming the property of the Reigate Priory, and with it, his personal gift of the advowson of the parish church.
This piece of property passed in 1492 to another patron of whom we have a reminder to-day in the small chapel on the north side of the church, known as ‘The Norbury Pew’.  The tomb with its inscription above is that of William Wyddowson (or Wyddolkson) and his wife Joan, a prominent parishioner and mercer of the City of London.  This small chapel itself is a relic of the Middle Ages having been built presumably by William Husee in the early 14th century - for a document quoted by Manning and Bray says: ‘8 Edward II 1315 – 
William Husee held of Gilbert, Earl of Clare, Norbury in Mickleham by the service of half a knights fee, value £10 per annum - he had licence to hear divine service ‘in his chapel’ at Mickleham’. 
[bookmark: _GoBack][Editor’s note: Further study has shown that the chapel referred to here was probably a private chapel in the manor house at Norbury. This was served by a priest from Reigate Priory until the dissolution. Wyddowson patron of the church and Lord Manor of Fredley built his sepulchral chapel onto the church before his death in 1514. This chapel was probably acquired when part of Fredley was added to the Norbury estate and was used by the family after their private chapel was closed.]
One other relic in the parish from these times is the chapel whose ruins stand by Chapel Lane.  Although at one time it was said to have been built for the use of pilgrims, there is evidence to suggest that, far more likely, it was in fact a chapel of ease for St Michael’s serving the people of Westhumble who lived in the western part of the parish.
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